DO NOT REMOVE **FILE COPY** FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

NO. 18-1106

ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION, Respondent Below, Petitioner,



v.

DALE W. STEAGER, as STATE TAX COMMISSIONER of WEST VIRGINIA, Petitioner Below, Respondent.

Hon. Charles E. King, Jr. Circuit Court of Kanawha County Civil Action No. 18-AA-218

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION

Counsel for Petitioner

Craig A. Griffith (WVSB No. 8549) L. Frederick Williams (WVSB No. 4061) John J. Meadows (WVSB No. 9442) Steptoe & Johnson PLLC Post Office Box 1588 Charleston, West Virginia 25326 Telephone: (304) 353-8000 E-mail: craig.griffith@steptoe-johnson.com

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment 1: The Circuit Court erred by determining that the Respondent correctly applied the Consumer Sales Tax, W. Va. Code § 11-15-1, *et seq.*, and the applicable legislative rules and that the West Virginia Office of Tax Appeals ("WVOTA") failed to correctly apply the Consumer Sales Tax and the applicable legislative rules.

Assignment 2: The Circuit Court erred by basing its order on the contention that the WVOTA "mooted" the thirteen specific categories of purchases exempt under W. Va. Code §§ 11-15-2(b)(4)(A)(i)-(xiii), which is based on a misguided analysis that focused exclusively on the "catchall" provisions of W. Va. Code § 11-15-2(b)(4)(A)(xiv).

Assignment 3: The Circuit Court erred by determining that rented skid houses/crew quarters were not directly used in Petitioner's natural resource production activities based on the erroneous determination that the skid houses/crew quarters were provided for the comfort or convenience of well site workers, and consequently that these rental charges did not qualify for the direct use exemption set forth in W. Va. Code § 11-15-2(b)(4).

Assignment 4: The Circuit Court erred by determining that rented bathroom facilities were not directly used in Petitioner's natural resource production activities based on a pervasive misapplication of the West Virginia Code and West Virginia Code of State Rules, and consequently that these rental charges did not qualify for the direct use exemption set forth in W. Va. Code § 11-15-2(b)(4).

<u>Assignment 5</u>: The Circuit Court erred by determining that rented trash trailers and bins were not directly used in Petitioner's natural resource production activities based on the misconception that economic waste was not the primary type of waste disposed of in the trailers and bins, and consequently that these rental charges did not qualify for the direct use exemption set forth in W. Va. Code § 11-15-2(b)(4).

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. INTRODUCTION

Antero Resources Corporation ("Antero"),¹ by counsel Craig A. Griffith, L. Frederick Williams, and John J. Meadows of Steptoe & Johnson PLLC, presents this brief in support of its appeal of the order of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County (the "Circuit Court") reversing the decision of the West Virginia Office of Tax Appeals (the "WVOTA") that had modified a sales and use tax assessment imposed on Antero by the State Tax Commissioner (the "Respondent").

Antero explores, drills for and produces natural gas and oil at various well sites in West Virginia. In order to properly operate at the various well sites, Antero purchases or rents a voluminous amount of tangible personal property and services from various vendors. Antero's purchases or rentals of property or services that are directly used in the production of natural resources qualify for the direct use exemption under W. Va. Code §§ 11-15-9(b)(2) and 11-15A-3(a)(2) (the "Direct Use Exemption").

On December 19, 2014, Respondent issued a sales and use tax assessment against Antero for \$1,072,003.92 of tax, plus \$201,594.95 of interest (the "Antero Assessment"), based on the fact that Antero did not pay sales or use tax on purchases or rentals of certain tangible personal property and services that were used at its various well sites for the audit period of January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2013. On the same date, a sales and use tax assessment was issued against Antero Bluestone for \$1,058.25, plus \$267.34 of interest (the "Bluestone Assessment"

¹ This matter also involves a small assessment against Antero Resources Bluestone LLC ("Antero Bluestone"), a subsidiary of Antero that was merged into Antero in 2014. The two assessments will be discussed separately where necessary, and the two entities will generally be referred to as "Antero."

and, together with the Antero Assessment, collectively the "Assessment"), based on the same reasoning as was given for the Antero Assessment. Antero paid the full amount of the Assessment, and subsequently filed petitions for reassessment with the WVOTA. In the petition for reassessment for Antero, Antero only appealed a portion of the Antero Assessment, \$1,048,343.73, plus interest of \$198,583.07, based on Antero's determination that a portion of the Antero Assessment was valid and that certain purchases did not qualify for the Direct Use Exemption. The full amount of the Bluestone Assessment was appealed via a separate petition for reassessment. The WVOTA conducted an administrative hearing on May 5, 2016, and the parties subsequently submitted briefs. Following briefing, the WVOTA found that Antero's purchase or rental of various items of tangible personal property that are directly used in the production of natural resources are qualified for the Direct Use Exemption. The WVOTA modified the Antero Assessment, holding that tax of \$22,601.94 and interest of \$3,011.88 was owed by Antero, and vacating the remainder of the Antero Assessment, and vacating the entire Bluestone Assessment.²

By order dated November 15, 2018, the Circuit Court reversed the WVOTA's decision, holding that the purchases and rentals included in the Assessment are not subject to the Direct Use Exemption.

The Circuit Court erred in holding that the Direct Use Exemption does not apply to Antero's rental or purchase of the following items, all of which are integral and essential to the operation of Antero's well sites: 1) skid houses/crew quarters, and the generators, transformers and electrical and water hook ups necessary to make each skid house/crew quarters usable and habitable, used exclusively by specific workers required to remain on the well site around the

² Antero A.R. 0135.

clock; 2) bathroom facilities, including port-a-potties, conex weatherized water and sewer boxes that are used to service the skid houses/crew quarters, potable water for the bathroom facilities, and services to clean the well site septic systems; and 3) trash bins and trailers that are used for the storage, removal, or transportation of economic waste.

Because the Circuit Court improperly reversed the decision of the WVOTA, Antero urges this Court to reverse the Circuit Court's ruling in all respects. Antero is entitled to have \$1,049,401.98 of the Assessment, plus \$198,850.41 of interest, vacated and these amounts, which were paid under protest, should be refunded to Antero. Additionally, interest on Antero's overpayment that has accrued pursuant to W. Va. Code § 11-10-17(d) should be remitted to Antero.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS³

Antero is engaged in the exploration, development and acquisition of natural gas and oil from properties located in the Appalachian Basin, including the Marcellus and Utica Shales. Antero registered to do business under the laws of the State of West Virginia in 2008, and has been producing natural gas at wells in the State since that time, with its primary operations in various north central West Virginia counties. Antero Bluestone was merged into Antero in 2014.⁴

A typical well site for Antero is located in a remote location, and it is generally necessary to build roads to access the well sites.⁵ For the sake of efficiency and safety, Antero builds one drilling pad and drills several wells from the one pad.⁶ During the drilling and initial production

³ References to the Appendix Record submitted by Antero are set forth as "Antero A.R. __."

⁴ Antero A.R. 0253–55 and 0796–97.

⁵ Antero A.R. 0253–56 and 0796–97.

⁶ Antero A.R. 0256–57.

phase, Antero operates its well sites twenty-four hours per day, seven days a week, three hundred and sixty-five days per year. Workers at Antero's well sites can be on location for six to nine months a year.⁷ In order to operate the well sites, Antero purchases or rents various items and services from vendors. Most of the rented items are essential to operating the well sites, including skid houses/crew quarters that are used by certain workers at the sites, port-a-potties, conex weatherized water and sewer boxes that are used for various purposes, including sewage waste treatment and removal and housing of potable water, and trash bins and trailers used almost exclusively to dispose of commercial waste resulting from the production of natural gas.⁸

Wolf Pack Energy, through its subsidiary Wolf Pack Rentals, LLC (hereinafter "Wolf Pack"), rented or sold a variety of goods to Antero, including the skid houses/crew quarters, porta-potties, conex weatherized water and sewer boxes, potable water, and trash bins and trailers. The purchases and rentals from Wolf Pack comprise a majority of the Assessment against Antero. Port-a-potty rentals from M&M Septic Pumping were also included in the Assessment.⁹

Respondent determined that "skid houses" or "crew quarters" rented from Wolf Pack are partially exempt and partially taxable.¹⁰ The skid houses/crew quarters are modular buildings used by certain workers at the well site, and they are used exclusively by Antero as temporary office and living space.¹¹ The modular buildings are physically located at the well site and remain at the well site only during the drilling and initial production phase for each well, and are removed from the well site following the drilling and initial production for each well and either

⁷ Antero A.R. 0262–63 and 0294–95.

⁸ Antero A.R. 0256–0258, 0260–61, 0263–66, 0274–75, 0282–84, 0286, and 0483–86.

⁹ Antero A.R. 0269–70, 0481, 0303, 0305, 0309, 0506–0663, and 0329–0472.

¹⁰ Antero A.R. 0304, 0308, 0483, and 0726–36.

¹¹ Antero A.R. 0259–60, 0274, 0315, and 0317.

returned to Wolf Pack or moved to another of Antero's well sites by Wolf Pack.¹² Respondent determined that the generators and electrical and water hookups for the skid houses/crew quarters are partially exempt and partially taxable.¹³

Using the square footage utilized of the skid houses/crew quarters, Respondent treated the 32.4% portion of the units composed of office space as directly used in natural resource production activities and, thus, exempt from sales and use tax, and the 67.6% portion of the units composed of "living quarters" as subject to sales and use tax.¹⁴ The "living quarters" consists of bedrooms, bathrooms, a kitchen and dining area and a living room; however, this "living" space is primarily used by certain workers to sleep and bathe, since food is typically brought in for consumption at the well site from food delivery trucks.¹⁵ Respondent's conclusion that the office space in the skid houses/crew quarters are directly used in the natural resource production activities was based on the determination that workers assist with "steering the well" from the office space area, and that this activity is an integral and essential part of natural resource production.¹⁶

During the audit period, the skid houses/crew quarters rented from Wolf Pack were only used by the company man and directional drillers, both of whom, per best industry practices, are required to remain at the well site around the clock to ensure that the well site operates in the safest manner possible.¹⁷ Respondent has acknowledged that these workers are essential to the

¹² Antero A.R. 0316–17.

¹³ Antero A.R. 0274, 0303, 0312, 0315, 0484, and 0726–36.

¹⁴ Antero A.R. 0273, 0304, 0312–13, 0484, and 0726–36.

¹⁵ Antero A.R. 0262, 0274–75, and 0484.

¹⁶ Antero A.R. 0304 and 0308.

¹⁷ Antero A.R. 0262 and 0264.

production of natural gas by Antero.¹⁸ From January 1, 2011 to November 2012, the "company man," an independent contractor paid by Antero on a daily basis who makes the ultimate drilling and operational decisions at the well site, remained on site around the clock for two weeks straight.¹⁹ From November 2012 to December 31, 2013, Antero used two company men for each well site, with each company man working alternating twelve hour shifts and then leaving the well site.²⁰ Antero generally uses four "directional drillers" at each well site, with two staying at the well site around the clock for two weeks straight.²¹ The directional drillers are tasked with "steering the well" in order to ensure that the drilling process is safe and that the drill bit follows the proper path to lead to natural gas and oil being extracted as intended.²² Two directional drillers are required to remain on site for two straight weeks and the other two drillers leave the site during this two week time frame, and do not have access to the crew quarters during that time.²³

Respondent determined that all items used for bathroom facilities rented from Wolf Pack are subject to sales and use tax.²⁴ The bathroom facilities treated as taxable include port-apotties, conex weatherized water and sewer boxes that serve the skid houses/crew quarters, and potable water used for the septic system, all of which are necessary because the well site locations are often miles away from the nearest public restroom facilities.²⁵ The United States Department of Labor's Occupational Safety and Health Administration ("OSHA") requires that

¹⁸ Antero A.R. 0275–76, 0281, and 0315.

¹⁹ Antero A.R. 0262–63, 0275, 0289, and 0297.

²⁰ Antero A.R. 0275–77, 0290, and 0297.

²¹ Antero A.R. 0278–79, 0291, and 0484.

²² Antero A.R. 0278–80, and 0484.

²³ Antero A.R. 0280, 0291, and 0484.

²⁴ Antero A.R. 0305, 0485, 0679–0725, and 0726–36.

²⁵ Antero A.R. 0257, 0265, 0282-83, 0485, 0679-0725, 0726-36, and 0797.

Antero provide bathroom facilities and potable water for bathroom facilities at its well sites.²⁶ Respondent has acknowledged that: 1) the "pollution control" and "environmental quality or protection activity" provisions under the Direct Use Exemption statutes contain no language that mandates that the pollution is required to result from the actual drilling of the well, and that "pollution control" under the West Virginia Code of State Rules, W. Va. C.S.R. § 110-15-1 et seq. (the "Legislative Rule") for sales and use tax refers to "any service, system, method, construction, device or appliance that is used or intended for the primary purpose of eliminating, preventing, or reducing . . . water pollution";²⁷ 2) "environmental quality or protection activity" under the Legislative Rule for sales and use tax encompasses "services, devices, systems, or facilities" used or intended for use primarily for the protection of the public, and the public interest through the control or reduction of, in part, water pollution:²⁸ 3) the Legislative Rule defines "water pollution" as including "the discharge or deposit of sewage, industrial wastes or other wastes of such condition and such manner or in such quantity as to cause ground or surface water to be contaminated, unclean or impure to such an extent to make said waters detrimental to the public and public interest";²⁹ and 4) that bathroom facilities at the site prevented the discharge of sewage at the well sites.³⁰ In direct contrast to its decision to subject Antero's bathroom facility rentals and purchases to sales tax, Respondent has previously determined that "[t]he availability of portable toilets [at a natural resource production site] is considered to be a

²⁶ Antero A.R. 0266, 0282–83, and 0491–92.

²⁷ Antero A.R. 0318; W. Va. C.S.R. § 110-15-2.27.1.13.a.

²⁸ Antero A.R. 0318–19; W. Va. C.S.R. § 110-15-2.27.1.13.b.

²⁹ Antero A.R. 0318–19; W. Va. C.S.R. § 110-15-2.27.1.13.d.

³⁰ Antero A.R. 0319.

safety item. As a result, the rentals of the portable toilets are considered to be exempt as the toilets are directly used in the production activity.³¹

Respondent also determined that trash bins and trailers rented from Wolf Pack are subject to sales and use tax.³² As with the bathroom facilities, the remote nature of the well sites makes the trash bins a necessity for the disposal of trash and the trailers a necessity for hauling the trash off site. OSHA requires that Antero provide trash bins and trailers at its well sites.³³ The two primary types of waste placed in the trash bins and trailers that Respondent deemed subject to sales and use tax are waste created by humans and commercial waste. Antero's witness at the WVOTA hearing, Alvyn Schopp, Chief Administrative Officer, Regional Senior Vice President and Treasurer for Antero, testified that at least 90% of the waste disposed of in the trash bins and trailers is commercial waste.³⁴ Furthermore, Respondent's sole witness, auditor Evelyn Furbee, acknowledged that not having trash bins and trailers at the well site would result in substantial pollution at the well sites.³⁵

On December 19, 2014, Antero received the Assessment.³⁶ On January 15, 2015, Antero paid the Assessment in full, and under protest, to cease the continued accrual of interest on the Assessment. Of the combined disputed tax amount of \$1,049,401.98, \$1.043,388.00 is associated with Antero's purchases from Wolf Pack Energy and \$1,010.25 is associated with purchases from Wolf Pack by Antero Bluestone. The remainder is related to purchases from various vendors by both entities, including port-a-potty rentals from M&M Septic Pumping.

³¹ Antero A.R. 0756.

³² Antero A.R. 0477, 0679–0725, 0726–36.

³³ Antero A.R. 0264–66, 0286–87, 0322–23, and 0490.

³⁴ Antero A.R. 0267 and 0287.

³⁵ Antero A.R. 0321.

³⁶ Antero A.R. 0506–0642, 0643–0671, and 0329–0472.

Antero only disputes the portion of the Assessment associated with rentals or purchases from Wolf Pack and M&M Septic Pumping.³⁷

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court incorrectly reversed the decision of the WVOTA that had modified the Assessment. The Circuit Court incorrectly determined that Respondent correctly applied the sales and use tax statutes and the Legislative Rule in denying application of the Direct Use Exemption for certain purchases and rentals made by Antero in furtherance of its natural resource production activities. Antero demonstrated that the Direct Use Exemption applies to its rental or purchase of the following items that are integral and essential to the operation of its well sites: 1) skid houses/crew quarters, and the generators, transformers and electrical and water hook ups necessary to make each skid house/crew quarters usable and habitable, for use exclusively by specific workers required to remain on the well site around the clock; 2) bathroom facilities, including port-a-potties, conex weatherized water and sewer boxes that are used to service the skid houses/crew quarters, and 3) trash bins and trailers that are used for the storage, removal, or transportation of economic waste.

Accordingly, Antero respectfully requests that this Court reverse the order of the Circuit Court and modify the Assessment to reflect the application of the Direct Use Exemption to various purchases and rentals of tangible personal property by Antero in furtherance of its natural resource production activities.

³⁷ Antero A.R. 0329–0472, 0672–78, and 0679–0725.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Antero requests Rule 20 Oral Argument, pursuant to W. Va. R. App. P. 20, because this matter presents an issue of first impression regarding the breadth of the application of the Direct Use Exemption for natural resource producers.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals "reviews the decisions of the circuit court under the same standard of judicial review that the lower court was required to apply to the decision of the administrative agency."³⁸ Administrative appeals from state agencies are reviewed by the circuit court, which applies a *de novo* standard of review for questions of law.³⁹

Under the Administrative Procedures Act, W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4(g), a "circuit court shall reverse, vacate or modify the order or decision of the agency if the substantial rights of the petitioner or petitioners have been prejudiced because the administrative findings,

³⁸ Webb v. West Virginia Bd. of Med., 212 W. Va. 149, 569 S.E.2d 225 (2002).

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