DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FILE COPY

EDYTHE NASH GAISER, CLEF BUPREME COURT OF APPEA OF WEST VIRGINIA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA Docket No. 18-1106

ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION, Respondent Below, Petitioner,

V.

DALE W. STEAGER, as STATE TAX COMMISSIONER of WEST VIRGINIA Petitioner Below, Respondent.



Respectfully Submitted By:

L. WAYNE WILLIAMS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

W.Va. State Bar No. 4370 State Capitol Building 1, Room 435-W Charleston, WV 25305 Telephone: (304) 558-2522

Email: L. Wayne. Williams@wvago.gov

Counsel for Dale W. Steager, State Tax Commissioner of West Virginia

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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

West Virginia imposes a consumers sales tax on all purchases of tangible personal property and services. W. Va. Code § 11-15-3. All purchases are deemed by statute to be taxable until the contrary is clearly proven by the taxpayer. W. Va. Code § 11-15-6(b). The consumers sales tax includes a specific exemption for purchases that are directly used or consumed in the production of natural resources and other specific industries. W. Va. Code § 11-15-9(b)(2).

During the audit period, Antero rented single wide trailers which were utilized as Crew Quarters at the drill site. One third of the Crew Quarters housed the computer equipment that directed and controlled all of the drilling operations for that location. The Tax Department classified the office area as a direct use purchase since it controlled the drilling operations; that portion of the rental charge was exempt from consumers sales tax. However, the remaining two thirds was utilized by Antero as bedrooms, breakrooms, kitchen and dining areas, and living rooms. The Tax Department assessed tax on the two thirds portion since it was not directly used in the production of natural resources. *See* OTA Decision at AR 0026.

In the administrative decision, OTA committed two fundamental errors of law. First, OTA chose to expressly "moot" the lion's share of the direct use exemption. The consumers sales tax specifically list thirteen categories of activities that qualify for the direct use exemption plus a catchall provision. *See* W. Va. Code §§ 11-15-2(b)(4)(A). Subparagraph (i) through Subparagraph (xiii) explain in great detail the types of activities that qualify as a direct use purchase which are exempt from tax. The catchall provision is set forth in Subparagraph (xiv).

However, OTA expressly ruled that the catchall provision in "... subparagraph xiv seems to render the specificity in the subparagraphs above it moot." OTA Decision at AR 0023 n.3 (emphasis added). OTA lacks jurisdiction to "moot" any portion of a statute. As a result of

3

mooting Subparagraph (i) through Subparagraph (xiii), OTA created a new standard for claiming the direct use exemption. Rather than examining the specific activities chosen by the Legislature for direct use purchases, OTA ruled that the exemption should be based on whether the purchase was "... critical and essential to Antero's drilling operations." *See* OTA Decision at AR 0028. As the Circuit Court correctly found, Antero's business model should not be allowed to trump the statute or the legislative rule.

The second fundamental flaw compounded the first. OTA ruled that Antero was "contractually bound" to provide sleeping quarters for the directional drillers. *See* OTA Decision at AR 0021, Finding of Fact 13. OTA resorted to circular logic in order to rewrite the direct use exemption. Accordingly, OTA ruled, "Obviously, Antero thinks having two directional drillers on site at all times is essential, otherwise they would not be spending the money required to make that happen." OTA Decision at AR 0027. Since Antero was "contractually bound" to provide sleeping quarters for its directional drillers, OTA ruled that the associated rental charges were essential and, therefore, exempt from tax.

However, the legislative rule includes specific examples of purchases that qualify for the direct use exemption in every enumerated industry as well as numerous examples of purchases that are indirectly used and, therefore, taxable. Most importantly, the legislative rule only lists the following purchases as being directly used in the production of natural gas and oil:

123.4.3.7.d. Natural Gas and Oil Production.

123.4.3.7.d.1. Gas and oil drilling rigs and equipment.

123.4.3.7.d.2. Chemicals used in gas and oil well completion.

W. Va. Code R. § 110-15-123.4.3.7.d. (1993). No other purchases are listed in the rule as being directly used in the production of natural gas and oil.

The Tax Department classified the portion of the Crew Quarters which housed computer equipment that controlled the drilling activities and all drilling equipment purchases as being directly used in the production of natural gas; consequently, those items were <u>not</u> included in the assessment. However, the Tax Department assessed tax on the portion of the rented Crew Quarters used primarily as sleeping areas and break areas for Antero's independent contractors; the rental of Porta-Potties and related sanitary charges; and the rental of various trash bins and dumpsters. The direct use exemption does not specifically include sleeping quarters, breakrooms, kitchenettes, Porta-Potties or bathrooms, and dumpsters, within the scope of activities for any of the industries that qualify for the direct use exemption. *See* W. Va. Code R. § 110-15-123.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The Tax Department requests Rule 20 Oral Argument, pursuant to the Rules of Appellate Procedure in this case, because the case involves fundamental issues regarding the application of the direct use exemption set forth in the W. Va. Consumers Sales Tax. The Circuit Court correctly ruled that OTA exceeded its jurisdiction and rewrote the direct use exemption to expand the scope of the exemption.

IV. ARGUMENT

Antero listed five assignments of error in their Supreme Court Brief that parallel the case as outlined in the Circuit Court decision on appeal. *See* Antero's Sup. Ct. Br. at 1. However, the Argument section of Antero's Supreme Court Brief lists arguments that do not correspond to the assignments of error. The Tax Department has organized this Response Brief to address the various arguments from Antero as listed on page 1 of Antero's Supreme Court Brief.

ERROR A. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DECIDED THAT THE TAX DEPARTMENT PROPERLY APPLIED THE CONSUMERS SALES TAX AND LEGISLATIVE RULE.

A. 1. The proper scope of the direct use exemption.

The first question the Supreme Court must address is whether the Tax Department correctly applied the consumers sales tax and the applicable legislative rules. Based upon a review of the administrative record and the briefs by the litigants, the Circuit Court concluded that the Tax Department correctly applied the direct use exemption in auditing Antero and reversed the OTA Decision. *See* AR 1214; AR 1249-50.

The consumers sales tax applies to all purchases of tangible personal property and services in this State. See W. Va. Code § 11-15-1, et seq. In order to prevent evasion, all sales are considered taxable until the contrary is clearly established. W. Va. Code § 11-15-6(b). The consumers sales tax includes a specific statutory exemption for the purchase of tangible personal property and services that are directly used or consumed in the production of natural resources and seven other designated industries. The consumers sales tax exemption before the Court is:

(2) Sales of services, machinery, supplies and materials directly used or consumed in the activities of manufacturing, transportation, transmission, communication, production of natural resources, gas storage, generation or production or selling electric power, provision of a public utility service or the operation of a utility service or the operation of a utility business, in the businesses or organizations named in this subdivision and does not apply to purchases of gasoline or special fuel;

W. Va. Code § 11-15-9(b)(2) (2008) (emphasis added). In addition, the consumers sales tax statute expressly defines the operative phrase "directly used or consumed" as:

(4) "Directly used or consumed" in the activities of manufacturing, transportation, transmission, communication or the production of natural resources means used or consumed in those activities or operations which constitute an integral and essential part of the activities, as contrasted with and distinguished from those

activities or operations which are simply incidental, convenient or remote to the activities.

W. Va. Code § 11-15-2(b)(4) (2008) (emphasis added).

Before this Court, Antero argues that the direct use exemption should be an expansive or broad exemption for severance taxpayers. *See* Antero's Sup. Ct. Br. at 13, 19-20, 21, 29, 30 & 35-36. Similarly, Antero argues that the Tax Department has used a legislative rule to amend or restrict the statutory framework. *See* Antero's Sup. Ct. Br. at 29-32. It is well settled under West Virginia law that exemptions from tax are strictly construed against the taxpayer. *See, e.g.*, Syl. Pt. 1, *RGIS Inventory Specialists v. Palmer*, 209 W. Va. 152, 544 S.E. 2d 79 (2001) (consumers sales tax); and *Wooddell v. Dailey* 160 W. Va. 65 at ____, 230 S.E. 2d 466 at 469 (1976) (consumers sales tax). The decisions of this Court on this exact point of law were codified by the Legislature in 2009 in W. Va. Code § 11-10-25(a) which states, "... Tax exemptions administered by the Tax Commissioner shall be strictly construed against the taxpayer and for the payment of any applicable tax." Contrary to Antero's argument, tax exemptions are strictly construed against the taxpayer. Argued below at AR 1126; AR 0177; & AR 0184.

Consequently, Antero was required to meet a high standard of proof. Antero must prove not merely that the property was used adjacent to the work site or drill pad for the production of natural resources. Instead, Antero must prove that tangible personal property and services in the assessment were directly used in the production of natural resources. OTA failed to properly apply the statutory language as crafted by the Legislature and the Circuit Court properly reversed the administrative decision. *See* Cir. Ct. Decision at AR 1221-22. Antero argues that the Circuit Court failed to cite to any specific subsection of W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4 in reversing the administrative decision. *See* Antero's Sup. Ct. Br. at 12. Nevertheless, the Circuit Court clearly ruled that OTA

7

lacks jurisdiction to moot parts of a statute even though the Circuit Court did not specifically cite to W. Va. Code § 11-29A-5-4(g)(1) or (g)(2).

The underlying issue revolves around what property is being used by Antero and the purpose for which the property is used. These two simple questions must be asked regarding all of the property and services which were assessed. Generally, the assessment includes three broad categories of tangible personal property rented by Antero. Counsel for Antero described the categories as 1) Crew Quarters or Skid Houses which are single wide trailers; 2) Porta-Potties and related sanitary equipment including septic systems and bathroom facilities; and 3) Trash Trailers and Trash Bins. *See* OTA Transcript, AR at 0248-49. In addition, the assessment also includes the rental of electrical generating equipment which was used to provide electrical power for the drilling operations and crew quarters at the well sites. *See* Opening Statement of Counsel for the Tax Department, OTA Transcript at AR 0251. Argued below at AR 1125-27.

The Consumers Sales Tax assessment reflects the three broad categories:

Crew Quarters/skid houses Generator Rentals, including hookups	\$122,225 135,641
Portable Toilets and cleanings Conex Temporary Sewer System, incl. hookup and disconnect Conex Temporary Water System, incl. hookup and disconnect Gallons of potable water including delivery Septic Tank cleaning	95,401 64,436 60,601 201,690 282,366
Trash trailers and disposals TOTAL	81,024 \$1,043,384

Argued below at AR 0179 & AR 1127.

Antero has admitted that the audit conducted by Ms. Evelyn Furbee, Tax Unit Supervisor for the State tax Department, did not include consumers sales tax on the purchase of any water used as drinking water at the job site. The purchase of food, which would include drinking water,

is exempt from consumers sales tax. *See* Antero's Cir. Ct. Br. at AR 1174 and OTA Tr. at AR 0312, line 15. Argued below at AR 1206.

A. 2. The Legislative Rule is Not Antiquated.

Antero argues that the legislative rule is outdated because it has not been amended since being promulgated in 1993. In fact, Antero argues "Alas, the Legislative Rule in its current form is a labyrinth of provisions that may or may not still be valid." Antero's Sup. Ct. Br. at 19. Antero further argues that the legislative rule "...was not intended to guide natural resource producers, like Antero, that are subject to the severance tax." Antero's Sup. Ct. Br. at 20.

Antero's argument fails for three reasons. First, the legislative rule specifically addresses the application of the direct use exemption to oil and gas producers. The legislative rule specifies only two types of purchases that qualify as direct use for oil and gas producers—drilling rigs and equipment plus chemicals used to complete the well. *See* W. Va. Code R. § 123.4.3.7.d.1 & 123.4.3.7.d.2. The scope of the exemption is narrow by design. Sleeping quarters required pursuant to a contract with independent contractors, Porta-Potties, water and sewage systems, and trash bins, are **not** listed as exempt purchases under the direct use exemption for oil and gas producers or any other direct use industry. The guidance set forth in the legislative rule could not be any clearer on this point; Antero simply wants to expand the direct use exemption in order to reduce its consumers sales tax liability.

Second, the Legislature specifically addressed the validity of the existing body of legislative rules in 2016 and enacted a sunset provision for the promulgation of new legislative rules. New legislative rules promulgated on or after April 1, 2016, will automatically sunset after a five year lifespan. However, legislative rules existing on or before April 1, 2016, will continue to have the full force and effect of law unless the rule is subsequently amended. *See* W. Va. Code

§ 29A-3-19(a) & 19(b). The statutory sunset provision does not affect the body of legislative rules existing prior to April 1, 2016. Therefore, the Legislature has expressly considered the argument that older rules should be negated and rejected that argument. Antero is attempting to obtain through the courts what the Legislature specifically chose not to do.

Third, the Legislature chose to reduce the breadth of the consumers sales tax exemption in 1993. Producers of oil and natural gas, as well as many other industries, are subject to the severance tax. *See* W. Va. Code § 11-13A-3a. In 1993, the Legislature promulgated the existing legislative rule and amended the direct use exemption. Prior to 1993, producers of natural gas, such as Antero, were exempt from consumers sales tax on all purchases that were directly used as well as **not** directly used. W. Va. Code § 11-15-9(v) (1992) (emphasis added) specifically stated:

(v) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (g) of this section or any provisions of this article to the contrary, sales of property and services to persons subject to tax under article thirteen, thirteen-a or thirteen-b of this chapter: Provided, That the exemption herein granted shall apply both to property or services directly or not directly used or consumed in the conduct of privileges which are subject to tax under such articles but shall not apply to purchases of gasoline or special fuel;

The direct use exemption was codified in W. Va. Code § 11-15-9(g) in 1992 and the prior language was substantially the same as the current language found in W. Va. Code § 11-15-9(b)(2) regarding natural resource producers. However, in 1993, Subparagraph 9(v) was changed to exempt propane purchased to heat poultry houses; severance taxpayers lost the very broad exemption that applied to purchases for both direct use and indirect use set forth in previous versions of Subparagraph 9(v). See W. Va. Code §§ 11-15-9(g) and -9(v) (1993). The conclusion is obvious. The Legislature clearly chose to remove the sales tax exemption applicable to severance taxpayers for indirect use purchases. In 1993, the Legislature chose to narrow the breadth of the consumers sales tax exemptions for severance taxpayers such as producers of natural resources like Antero.

ERROR B. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT OTA LACKS JURISDICTION TO "MOOT" PORTIONS OF A STATUTE.

The decision issued by OTA contained two fundamental legal flaws which the Circuit Court correctly addressed. *See* Cir. Ct. Decision at AR 1217, 1240-45. Antero acknowledges that OTA cannot "moot" a statute. However, Antero also attempts to minimize the impact of the main thesis set forth by OTA in creating a new test of whether the rental charges are essential to Antero's business operations. *See* Antero's Sup. Ct. Br. at 15 n.54; *id.* at 16 & 20-21.

The Circuit Court decision was clear. The Office of Tax Appeals "mooted" the specific activities chosen by the Legislature as qualifying for the direct use exemption. OTA reviewed the direct use exemption set forth in W. Va. Code § 11-15-2(b)(4) and ruled:

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